No. S224779

Exempt from Filing Fees  
Government Code § 6103

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

---

**Citizens for Fair REU Rates, et al.**  
*Plaintiffs and Appellant*

vs.

**City of Redding, et al.**  
*Defendants and Respondents*

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

JUN 01 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

---

Deputy



---

**OPENING BRIEF**

---

Review of a Published Decision of the  
Third Appellate District, Case No. C071906

---

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of  
the State of California for the County of Shasta,  
Case No. 171377 (Consolidated with Case No. 172960)  
Honorable William D. Gallagher, Judge Presiding

---

\*MICHAEL G. COLANTUONO (143551)

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Is a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) transferred from the city utility to the city general fund a “tax” under Proposition 26 (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (1)(e))?
2. Does the exception for “reasonable costs to the local government of providing the service or product” apply to the PILOT (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (1)(e)(2))?
3. Does the PILOT predate Proposition 26?

## **INTRODUCTION**

This case asks the Court to determine whether a budget transfer from the City of Redding’s electric utility to its general fund re-legislated every two years without change since 2005 is a tax under Proposition 26.

Like most municipal electric providers in California, the City established its payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) from its electric utility to its general fund in 1988 to approximate the 1 percent property tax its electric utility assets would bear if held by an investor-owned utility such as Pacific Gas & Electric.

Citizens for Fair REU Rates (Citizens)<sup>1</sup> argue Proposition 26, article XIII C, section 1, subd. (e) of the California Constitution now requires voter approval of the long-standing PILOT because its existence means the City's electricity rates necessarily exceed the cost-of-service limitation of Proposition 26's exception to its definition of "tax" for fees for government services. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(2).)<sup>2</sup> However, unlike Proposition 218, which it amends, Proposition 26 is not retroactive as to local government and does not displace earlier legislation that raises the cost of government services to achieve other social goals. As the City's PILOT from its electric utility to its general fund predates Proposition 26, it is not disturbed by that measure, but grandfathered by it.

Even were that not so, the trial court found as a matter of fact — and the record demonstrates — that the PILOT is not funded by rates on City electricity customers, but from the proceeds of wholesale transactions. The City's wholesale prices are not "imposed" on the sophisticated market participants who choose to

---

<sup>1</sup> "Citizens" refers collectively to Citizens for Fair REU Rates, Fee Fighter, LLC and the individual plaintiffs and appellants in the two cases consolidated here.

<sup>2</sup> All further references to articles and sections of articles in this Brief are to the California Constitution.

buy power from Redding and those prices therefore are not subject to Proposition 26.

Even if Proposition 26 did apply here, the PILOT compensates the City's general fund for vital benefits and services the City provides to the electric utility — such as police and fire protection of utility assets and employees and use of City rights of way — so the general fund is not impoverished by the decision to municipalize electric service.

Finally, were the PILOT subject to Proposition 26, the City has not “imposed, extended or increased” it since the 2010 effective date of that measure and voter approval is therefore not yet required by article XIII C, section 2, subdivision (b).

For all these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's judgment.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS**

Citizens for Fair REU Rates filed a petition for writ of mandate and complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (Case No. 171377, “Rate Case”), alleging an increase in electric rates the City Council adopted December 7, 2010 constituted a tax requiring voter approval due to the continuing existence of the PILOT. (1 CT 2.) The City demurred, arguing the PILOT predated Proposition 26 and was therefore not subject to it. (1 CT 29.) The trial court denied the

demurrer. (2 CT 474.) The City then answered, denying all claims and contentions. (2 CT 486.) The City certified and lodged its 12-volume Administrative Record (“AR”) of the information considered by the City Council when it adopted the PILOT and the challenged electric rates. (2 CT 496.)

Feefighter, LLC — a for-profit entity owned by counsel for Citizens — then filed a second lawsuit (Case No. 172960, “Budget Case”) seeking declaratory and injunctive relief and damages, alleging the City’s budget for Fiscal Years 2011–2012 and 2012–2013 illegally included revenues from the PILOT. (2 CT 498.) The City answered by general denial and certified and lodged two additional volumes as an addendum to the Administrative Record to include materials pertinent to the budget adoption. (2 CT 557 [Answer]; 3 CT 732 [Notice of Lodgment].)

The trial court ruled for the City on the Rate Case after bench trial. (3 CT 709.) The court concluded the December 2010 electric rate increase neither created nor altered the PILOT and Proposition 26 does not apply retroactively to the PILOT and therefore did not invalidate the December 2010 rate increase. (3 CT 711.)

The court then consolidated the two cases for all purposes. (3 CT 719.) As the parties agreed, they did not file additional briefs for the Budget Case, which was tried on the briefing in the Rate Case, although the court heard additional argument. (3 CT 720 [¶¶ 4–5].)

The court then issued judgment for the City in both cases on July 13, 2012. (3 CT 750.) In a second detailed and considered Memorandum of Decision, the trial court concluded that Proposition 26 does not apply retroactively to the PILOT, which the City Council first adopted in 1988. (3 CT 736, 739 [last ¶].) The trial court also concluded the PILOT is a cost of service for the City's electric utility not displaced by Proposition 26 and that was not funded from the challenged electric rates. (3 CT 737 [lines 2–3]; 741–742.) Citizens timely appealed on August 20, 2012. (3 CT 760.)

## **II. APPELLATE COURT PROCEEDINGS**

After the parties fully briefed the case in the Third District Court of Appeals, that court invited simultaneous supplemental briefs on five questions. The parties filed the requested supplemental briefs and the Court heard oral argument.

After argument, the City filed an Application for Leave to File Supplemental Brief and Proposed Supplemental Brief to address issues raised at argument not previously briefed. The court granted this request and the parties submitted supplemental briefing addressing whether the City Council's adoption in June 2011 of a two-year budget that maintained the pre-existing PILOT constituted new legislation subject to Proposition 26 or the continuation of earlier legislation grandfathered by it.



On January 20, 2015, the Court of Appeal issued its published decision, holding the PILOT to be a tax subject to Proposition 26 and remanding for determination whether it was cost-justified. (*Citizens for Fair REU Rates v. City of Redding* (2015) 182 Cal.Rptr.3d 722.) Justice Duarte dissented. (*Id.* at p. 738.) The City sought rehearing to clarify the opinion and to correct factual errors. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing in an order incorporating minor changes.

This Court granted the City's Petition for Review.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

From 1971 to 1988, the City implemented an operating transfer from its electric utility to its general fund — i.e., a transfer in an amount established by the City budget, as distinguished from a PILOT, which is calculated like a property tax as a percentage of the value of utility assets. (II AR Tab 37, p. 358 (“In-lieu Tax Analysis”); II AR Tab 42, pp. 379–380 (“In-Lieu Analysis”); III AR Tab 111, p. 640 (1st ¶).) The transfer was intended to compensate the City's general fund for benefits and services the City provides the utility, and for which a private utility would pay property taxes and a franchise fee (a fee in the nature of rent for use of public rights-of-way), in addition to services that would not ordinarily be provided to a private utility, such as billing and finance. (II AR Tab 37, p. 358 (“In-lieu Tax Analysis”); I AR Tab 5, p.133; III AR Tab 119, p. 663 (2d whole ¶).) Its effect was to leave the City's general fund on the

footing it would have if the community had not elected to municipalize electric service.

In 1987, the City's Finance Department determined that operating transfers undervalued City benefits to the electric utility. (I AR Tab 4, pp. 119–124 (Finance Director's memo).) Finance Department staff examined similar programs in 34 cities that operated municipal utilities (i.e., essentially all municipal utilities in California) and requested a legal opinion of respected outside counsel. (I AR Tab 4, p. 119 (Finance Director's memo); I AR Tab 5, p. 135 [staff notes of other cities' practices].) Martin McDonough of McDonough, Holland & Allen opined that PILOTs were lawful, and that City power rates including a PILOT would almost certainly be considered reasonable because those rates were (and are) lower than comparable private utility rates. (I AR Tab 5, p. 133.) Redding's electric rates continue to be among the lowest in California. (IV AR Tab 166, pp. 1074, 1080–1085.)

The City Council adopted PILOTs benefitting its general fund from water, sewer, solid waste, and electric utilities in the Fiscal Year 1988–1989 budget.<sup>3</sup> (II AR Tab 28, p. 319 (last ¶) [City Manager's budget report]; III AR Tab 111, p. 640 (1st ¶) [City Attorney's

---

<sup>3</sup> The City's fiscal year, like that of most local governments, is July 1 to June 30. Unspecified "years" referenced in this brief and in the record are fiscal years.

memo.) Initially, the PILOT was calculated by assessing the value of the electric utility's property and equipment, subtracting estimated depreciation, and multiplying the result by the 1 percent property tax rate permitted by Proposition 13. (II AR Tab 42, p. 380 (2d ¶).) Upon adoption of the 1991–1992 budget, the City Council amended the PILOT to include the value of construction in progress. (II AR Tab 70, pp. 446–447 (“Assumption 3”); II AR Tab 72, p. 450 (last ¶).)

Following adoption of Proposition 218 in November 1996, the City retained an independent rate-making consultant to compare the PILOT to the cost of the services for which it was charged. (III AR Tab 119, pp. 663–665 (R.W. Beck memo).) That study concluded the PILOT fairly compensated the City for services to the utility — such as billing and finance and for use of public rights-of-way. (III AR Tab 119, p. 663 (8th & 10th bullets).) It noted the PILOT represented approximately 5 percent of electric utility revenues, “well within the range of similar transfers in California.” (III AR Tab 119, p. 663 (10th bullet).) The study noted the State Board of Equalization assessed multi-county utility property for property taxation using original, rather than the depreciated, asset values; but the City's PILOT then did not. (III AR Tab 119, p. 664 (1st ¶).) Upon adoption of the 2001–2003 budget, the City Council adjusted the PILOT to adopt that methodology, including a 2 percent cap on annual growth in assessed valuation (the ceiling imposed by Proposition 13,

art. XIII A, § 2, subd. (b)). (III AR Tab 126, pp. 693–694 (carry-over ¶); III AR Tab 134, p. 738 (1st ¶, last sentence).)

The City last amended the PILOT in 2005 to include the electric utility’s share of assets held by joint powers agencies (“JPAs”).<sup>4</sup> (2 CT 530 (last ¶); see also City’s Apr. 18, 2014 Motion for Judicial Notice in support of Respondent’s Brief to the District Court of Appeal, Exh. D (PILOT Calculation for FYs ending 2006 and 2007).)<sup>5</sup>

City staff calculates the PILOT with each budget according to the formula adopted by the City Council. (E.g., III AR Tab 126, pp. 693–694 [2001–2003 budget summary] (carry-over ¶); XIII AR Tab 205, p. 2896 [2011–2013 budget].) Because the formula relies on estimates, the PILOT is “trued up” upon the adoption of budgets in odd-numbered years to correct estimates for the previous biennium. (E.g., XIII AR Tab 205, p. 2971 (last ¶).)

The City increased electric rates in 2008 to compensate for change in the Western Hydroelectric contract, fluctuations in the natural gas market and a dry year for hydroelectric power, which produces the cheapest power available to the electric utility. (III AR

---

<sup>4</sup> Such agencies are formed pursuant to Government Code sections 6500 et seq.

<sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeal denied all the parties’ motions for judicial notice in a footnote in its opinion. (233 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 725, fn. 3.)

Tab 140, pp. 797–798 (carry-over ¶ & 1st whole ¶ on p. 798); IV AR Tab 142, p. 816 (2d & 3d ¶s); IV AR Tab 166, pp. 1067–1068.) At the time, the City was concerned that it not raise rates too quickly (which can cause significant economic dislocations that academics refer to as “rate shock”<sup>6</sup>), and decided to raise rates to recover the full cost of service incrementally over several years, using cash reserves in the interim.<sup>7</sup> (III AR Tab 140, pp. 797–800 (staff report recommending rate increases over time); IV AR Tab 159, p. 1031 (2010 staff report to same effect).) Although several “wet” years might have allowed an eventual rate decrease, it did not rain — as we now know all too well. (See IV AR Tab 142, p. 816 (2d ¶).) Instead, the utility’s cash reserves declined and staff warned the City Council in December 2010 that a failure to raise raises would harm the utility’s credit rating and increase its borrowing costs. (IV AR Tab 165, p. 1060 (“Public Hearing”); IV AR Tab 166, p. 1077–1078.) Staff also recommended rate increases to reflect both escalating costs to purchase power and the City’s covenants with bondholders

---

<sup>6</sup> E.g., Edison Electric Institute, Rate Shock Mitigation (June 2007)

available (as of May 25, 2015) at:

<[http://www.eei.org/whatwedo/PublicPolicyAdvocacy/StateRegulation/Documents/rate\\_shock\\_mitigation.pdf](http://www.eei.org/whatwedo/PublicPolicyAdvocacy/StateRegulation/Documents/rate_shock_mitigation.pdf)>.

<sup>7</sup> It is for this reason that rate-stabilization reserves are a common feature of utility cost-of-service analyses.

obligating it to maintain rates and cash reserves sufficient to ensure repayment of debt. (IV AR Tab 158, p. 1028 (“Public Hearing”); IV AR Tab 159, pp. 1031–1033 (staff report recommending rate increases).)

Accordingly, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2010-179 in December 2010 to increase electric rates by 7.84 percent effective January 2011 and by another 7.84 percent effective December 2011. (IV AR Tab 163, pp. 1041–1042.)

Those increases did not change the PILOT or affect it in any way. (IV AR Tab 163, p. 1041.) Nor were those rate increases necessary to fund the PILOT, which was included — as had been the City’s consistent practice since first adopting it in 1988 — in the 2009–2011 budget. The December 2010 electric rate increases were instead driven by the other costs noted above. Furthermore, the City’s electric utility receives revenue from wholesale customers (and other non-rate sources) in three to four times the amount of the PILOT. (IV AR Tab 145, p. 831 (wholesale revenues and PILOT amounts);<sup>8</sup> IV AR Tab 149, p. 873 (PILOT amount).)

In June 2011, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2011-111 to approve a budget for Fiscal Years 2012 and 2013

---

<sup>8</sup> Duplication of the AR obscured much of page 831. A legible copy is attached to this Brief as Attachment 1 pursuant to California Rules of Court rules 8.520(b) & (h), and 8.204(d).

which reflected revenues from the PILOT. (XI AR Tab 203, p. 2466 (6th "whereas" clause)).<sup>9</sup>

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court considers legal issues:

de novo to the extent that the [lower] court decided questions of law concerning the construction of constitutional provisions and not turning on any disputed facts. [An appellate court] review[s] the [trial] court's factual findings under the substantial evidence standard.

*(Schmeer v. County of Los Angeles (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1316 (Schmeer) [construing Proposition 26]; internal citations omitted.)*

Here, the record is not in dispute; the parties do, however, dispute the inferences to be drawn from it. While the City asserts some deference to the trial court's reading of the record is appropriate, even if this Court reviews the administrative record de novo, the trial court's well-reasoned conclusions survive review.

---

<sup>9</sup> This Resolution is attached as Attachment 2 for the Court's convenience pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 8.520(b) & (h), 8.204, subdivision (d).

In reviewing the trial court's ruling on a writ of mandate (Code Civ. Proc., § 1085), the appellate court is ordinarily confined to an inquiry as to whether the findings and judgment of the trial court are supported by substantial evidence. However, the appellate court may make its own determination when the case involves resolution of questions of law where the facts are undisputed.

(*Saathoff v. City of San Diego* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 697, 700 [internal citations omitted].)

“[T]he court's decision to grant or deny [declaratory] relief will not be disturbed on appeal unless it be clearly shown ... that the discretion was abused.” (*Pellegrini v. Weiss* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 515, 529; *Osseous Technologies of America, Inc. v. DiscoveryOrtho Partners LLC* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 357, 364.)

The trial court determined Proposition 26 did not apply to the PILOT, and therefore did not reach burdens of proof under that measure. (3 CT 739 (last sentence).) Similarly, the Court of Appeal noted only in passing that — under the final unnumbered paragraph of article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e) — the local government bears the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a charge is not a tax. (182 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 729.) This, duty, however, arises only when the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case that the revenue measure in question falls outside one of Proposition 26's



exemptions. (*California Building Industry Association v. State Water Resources Control Board* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1430, 186 Cal.Rptr.3d 212, 227 [construing Prop. 26 as applied to State] (*CBIA v. SWRCB*.)

To the extent Citizens would assign the City the burden to produce an administrative record containing evidence to sustain its legislative acts to adopt the December 2010 power rates and its 2011–2013 budget, the City accepts the burden. The City denies that Citizens have established a prima facie case that the PILOT is a tax under Proposition 26 and therefore, asserts that the burden of persuasion remains on Citizens. (*CBIA v. SWRCB, supra.*) However, even if the City did bear the burden to prove any disputed facts by a preponderance of the record evidence, it can do so on this record.

To the extent Citizens would assign the City some burden as to questions of law, the City demurs. Proposition 26 states as to burdens of proof under that measure:

The local government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity.

(Art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e) [final unnumbered ¶].)

What can it mean to bear the burden to prove that a charge is not a tax? A burden of proof is assigned with respect to disputed facts and assists a court in deciding issues as to which the evidence is in equipoise. (Evid. Code § 110 [defining “burden of producing evidence”]; Evid. Code § 115 [defining “burden of proof”].) The Court, however, needs no tie-breaking device for questions of law; it determines those independently. (See generally, *Crocker National Bank v. City and County of San Francisco* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 881, 888 [Mosk, J., discussing appellate standards of review of questions of fact, law, and mixed questions of fact and law].) Accordingly, Citizens and the City are on equal footing in this Court as to the meaning of Proposition 26 and other legal issues.

In any event, the City bore its burden to produce a record to support its December 2010 power rates and its 2011–2013 budget; Citizens failed to bear its burden to establish a prima facie case that the PILOT is a tax but, even if it had, the preponderance of the evidence in this record supports the City’s legislative acts and demonstrates the trial court correctly applied the law.

## LEGAL DISCUSSION

### I. THE PILOT PREDATES PROPOSITION 26

#### A. The PILOT Is Preexisting Legislation

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