SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

JUL - 2 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Citizens for Fair REU Rates, et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

City of Redding, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Review Of a Published Decision of the Third Appellate District, Case No. C071906

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Shasta, Case No. 171377 (Consolidated with Case No. 172960) Honorable William D. Gallagher, Judge Presiding

> Walter P. McNeill, Cal. Bar No. 95865 wmcneill@mcnlaw.com

> > MCNEILL LAW OFFICES 280 Hemsted Drive, Suite E Redding, CA 96002 Tel: 530-222-8992

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) transferred from the city utility to the city general fund a "tax" under Proposition 26 (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (1)(e))?
- 2. Does the exception for "reasonable costs to the local government of providing the service or product" apply to the PILOT (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (1)(e)(2))?
- 3. Does the PILOT predate Proposition 26?

II. INTRODUCTION

On November 2, 2010 the voters of California approved Proposition 26, an initiative measure amending Article XIIIC of the California Constitution to address the phenomenon whereby the Legislature and local governments have disguised new taxes as "fees" to obtain more revenue from California taxpayers, circumventing the Constitutional rights of the citizenry to vote on new taxes. The findings and declaration of purpose reinforce the remedial intent of Proposition 26, noting that despite the enactment of Proposition 218 – which made the right to vote on special and general taxes a Constitutional right per Article XIIIC §2 – there had ben no abatement in exactions because the Legislature and local agencies had simply changed the labels on new "taxes" to call them "fees." Therefore, per the findings and declarations of Proposition 26 (emphasis added):

(f) In order to ensure the effectiveness of these constitutional limitations, this measure.. defines a "tax" for state and local purposes so that neither the Legislature nor local governments can circumvent these restrictions on increasing taxes by simply defining new or expanded taxes as "fees." (Prop. 26, § 1, subds. (b), (c), (e), (f), reprinted at Historical Notes, 2B West's Ann. Cal. Codes (2013) foll. art. 13A, § 3, pp. 296-297).

Proposition 26 became effective the day after the election, December 3, 2010.

The focus and impact of Proposition 26 is in the paradigm shift it made in defining "taxes" and "fees," together with shifting the burden to the government to prove that an exaction truly is a "fee" as opposed to a disguised "tax." Under the prior construct of California law the Legislature and local agencies were free to create exactions imposed on the public and call them "fees," then place the burden on the tax-paying public to challenge the exaction in court, where the taxpayer would be required to carry the burden of proof and overcome a highly deferential standard of review favorable to the government (Homebuilders Association of Tulare/Kings Counties, *Inc. v. City of LeMoore* (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 554, 562 (*Homebuilders*): "The plaintiff has the burden of proof with respect to all facts essential to its claim for relief and that burden remains" and 561: "Judicial review is limited to an examination of the proceedings before the City to determine whether its action was arbitrary, capricious, or entirely lacking in evidentiary support.") Proposition 26 reversed the analytic route the court must follow, by broadly defining "tax" in Article XIIC §1(e) as "any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by local government, except the following..." It is then incumbent on the local agency to carry the burden of proof,

by a preponderance of the evidence, that the exaction fits within one of the seven listed exceptions to the broad definition of "tax."

The dispute in this case concerns what Citizens For Fair REU Rates (hereinafter "Citizens") contend are artificially inflated electric rates, adopted as a 7.84% rate increase by the City of Redding (hereafter "City") when the City Council approved Resolution No. 2010-179 on December 7, 2010 (and therefore subject to Proposition 26) (4 AR 1041-1045). The gravamen of Citizens' claim is that the rates are a "tax" rather than a "fee" because the City increases and designs its rates to recover the amount of a planned transfer of rate revenues from the electric utility to the general fund which the City denominates as a "Payment In Lieu Of Taxes" or "PILOT." This portion of the rates is purported to be calculated so as to mimic the amount the City might pay in property taxes on its electric utility assets if the City were ever to pay such taxes (which it does not). The so-called PILOT amount of the rates approved in Resolution 2010-179 was about \$5,968,220. There is no evidence in the record that this "PILOT" amount of the rate revenue was connected to any cost of service for electricity, and it is undisputed that City has no cost of service study or analysis for its rate increase. The funds transferred from the electric utility to the general fund are not restricted as to their use; like other proceeds of taxes, the City may and does spend the monies freely for any purpose deemed worthy.

Aside from the amount of the electric rates necessary to recover the PILOT amount of about \$6 million (which repeats annually, and for purposes of this litigation *cumulatively*), Citizens have not challenged the remainder of the rates as to whether they are otherwise representative of the cost of service to provide electricity to the ratepayers. Thus, this action concerns what is in

essence the overcharging of electric rates, and the so-called "PILOT" is merely the metric of that overcharge.

One might think that – given these undisputed facts – there would be no difficulty or resistance to applying the remedial definition of "taxes" to the increased electric rates adopted by the City after Proposition 26 had become effective, but that would underestimate the tenacity and creativity of the City. The primary defense mounted by the City is that its history of overcharging ratepayers caused the PILOT calculation to acquire a life of its own, largely because the City has planned on exacting the amount of the PILOT in its biennial budget-making process to transfer it to the General Fund, and therefore this long-standing practice pre-existed the approval of Proposition 26 sufficient to give it a "grandfathered" status.

The logical and legal disconnect in the City's central defense is that the "PILOT" is nothing more than a standard line item notation in the City's budget indicating the City's intention to transfer that amount from the electric utility to the General Fund. It sits alongside thousands of other line items for transfers and expenditures in the City budget. Prior to this controversy it received no special treatment, nor was it ever independently processed as any sort of fee, charge, exaction, surcharge, or assessment cognizable under any statutory scheme for such matters. The mere fact that the City adopts its budgets by resolution does not confer a special status on the PILOT or a thousand other transfers, expenditures, collections, etc. contained within the budget. There is no basis whatsoever in California law to find that this metric for an interfund transfer has evolved into anything independently legally cognizable; the City has provided no legal authority for such a novel proposition, because there is none. To be more precise for the purposes of Proposition 26 analysis, it is

undisputed that the planned interfund transfer in the amount of the PILOT notated in the City budget is <u>not</u> itself a "fee" or "charge" as those terms are used in Article XIIIC §1(e) (See City Respondent's Brief from the proceedings below, at p. 19, fn. 15, and at p. 22 – acknowledging that the projected interfund transfer in the amount of the PILOT is not a "fee" or "charge" or "rate," and calling it a "cost funded by utility resources"). There is nothing to "grandfather" as to Proposition 26.

The City's other defenses argued in its opening brief melt away with only slight scrutiny: (•) that the City should be allowed to make a "modest profit"; (•) that the PILOT amount allegedly could have been paid from power sales; (•) that the City's rates are reasonable based on market comparison to other utilities in the state. These are addressed *post* only as may be needed to protect Citizens for rebuttal purposes. Citizens are mindful that, strictly speaking, none of the defenses referenced immediately above are permissible for briefing under the Court's April 29, 2015 order for briefing and argument to be limited to the 3 specific issues in the order.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

There is no dispute as to any of the material facts in this case. On November 2, 2010, the voters of the State of California approved Proposition 26, amending Article XIII C of the California Constitution to place significant limitations on the ability of local governments to raise, extend or impose charges for government services or products by further clarifying the definition of a local "tax" requiring approval by the electorate. In particular, Section

1(e)(2) provides that a charge is exempt from the voter approval requirements for taxes only if the charge for the government service or product "does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of providing the service or product" (2 CT 402-403). Also added to Article XIII C of the California Constitution was the provision placing the burden *on the local government* to prove "by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge or other exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity" (2 CT 403).

On December 7, 2010, little more than one month after the general election of November 2, 2010 approving Proposition 26, the City of Redding City Council adopted Resolution 2010-179, increasing the rates charged by the Redding Electric Utility ("REU") a total of 15.68% between January and December 2011 (4 AR 1041). This rate increase included an embedded "Payment In-Lieu of Taxes" ("PILOT") charge, a charge collected through REU rates and transferred to the City's general fund (3 CT 736). The PILOT charge is calculated using an amount based on 1% of the Redding Electric Utility fund's total fixed assets, and is meant to mimic the amount of property taxes the City would have to pay on REU's assets if the City had to do so (3 CT 736), (though, as explained below, it in fact does not). The calculation of the PILOT is made without any reference to the cost of operating the Redding Electric Utility.

The City first included an accounting of the transfer of the PILOT charge in its 1988-89 budget (5 AR 1134 – 6 AR 1540, Tab 173), though it should be noted that the PILOT was never (and has never been) approved or voted on as a separate and specifically

approved charge by the City (and see again City Respondent's Brief from the proceedings below, at p. 19, fn. 15, and at p. 22 – acknowledging that the projected interfund transfer in the amount of the PILOT is not a "fee" or "charge" or "rate," and calling it a "cost funded by utility resources"). Prior to this, between 1971 and 1988, the City moved money from its Electric Utility Fund to its General Fund via an "operating transfer", a transfer in a fixed amount established by the City budget (3 AR 640, Tab 111). As of the 1988-89 budget, the City replaced this fixed amount transfer with the transfer of a PILOT charge from REU to the City's General fund, calculating the PILOT using an amount based on 1% of the Redding Electric Utility fund's total fixed assets. As stated above, the calculation of the PILOT is meant to mimic the amount of property taxes the City would have to pay on REU's assets if the City had to pay such taxes (which it does not) (3 CT 736).

The manner in which the City calculates the PILOT charge has changed over the years. In the City's budget for fiscal year 1988-89, the method chosen for calculating the PILOT was to assess the value of REU's property and equipment and subtract estimated depreciation of equipment, furnishings and vehicles (2 AR 380, Tab 42); in the City's adoption of its 1991-92 budget, the City amended this calculation to include the value of capital construction works in progress but not completed (2 AR 416, Tab 59); in the City's adoption of its 2001-2003 budget, the calculation was amended to include a maximum 2 percent annual growth in accessed valuation (3 AR 693, Tab 126); in the most recent change to the PILOT calculation formula, the City states that the PILOT calculation was amended to include the value of joint-venture assets in which REU has a share (2 CT 530). Each adjustment of the formula for calculation of the PILOT charge has resulted in additional assets or

asset values being allowed for inclusion in the formula. As is apparent from the foregoing, the formula for calculation of the PILOT bears no relation to the actual cost of operating the utility – it is merely a calculation of 1% of the assets currently held by REU.

At this point it should be noted that in the City's Opening Brief, the City misrepresents the method by which the PILOT was and is calculated. The City states in its Opening Brief at page 8 that a 1999 review of its PILOT, conducted by the firm of R.W. Beck, Inc. (at Tab 119, 3 AR 663-665), indicated that the City was not using the method used by the State Board of Equalization when calculating property taxes for Independently Operated Utilities (IOUs) but then adjusted the PILOT to adopt the Board of Equalization methodology in its 2001-2003 budget. The City's Opening Brief then states incorrectly that the Board of Equalization method was to value assets using original, rather than depreciated, values, and cites the Beck report for this finding. In fact, the report correctly states "the State Board of Equalization uses the *depreciated* value when calculating property taxes for the IOUs", not the original value, and that at the time the City of Redding was <u>not</u> using this method (at 3) AR 664, 1st ¶, emphasis added) nor has the City ever adopted this method¹. The report goes on to indicate that "if Redding were to deem it desirable to more closely approximate methodologies used for property tax assessment, then the Board of Equalization model for electric utility plant would be a good model" (at 3 AR 664, 1st ¶)

¹ See also Tab 3, 1 AR 12-117, Handbook Titled "The Appraisal of Public Utilities," from the Valuation Division of the Property Department of the California State Board of Equalization: "The original cost figure are trended to produce a trended historical cost or reproduction cost. The reproduction cost is depreciated by the use of percent good tables based on a present worth concept, while historical cost is depreciated on the basis of the straight line method required by the regulatory commission" (1 AR 64).

and to recommend that the City may want to "[m]odify the bases for In-Lieu of Tax calculations to be the depreciated or book value of assets; or for the power plant, the market value of the asset. This will more closely track methodologies used for property tax assessments, particularly those used by the California Franchise Tax Board for IOUs" (3 AR 665, 1st ¶).

Far from adjusting the PILOT to adopt the state's method, as the City's Opening Brief incorrectly claims, the City apparently rejected this recommendation, and expressed concerns with this approach in its Notes on the changes in Electric Utility In-Lieu Tax calculation methodology, referencing the Beck report and indicating that basing the in-lieu tax assessment on depreciated value to be more consistent with the State Franchise Tax Board "could lead to consideration of alternative methods of establishing valuation, such as income approach which is based on a projection of the future income expected to be derived from the asset" (Tab 121, 2 AR 668 at \P 5).

The City's Opening Brief is therefore incorrect in stating that the method used by the City to calculate its PILOT is that used by the California State Board of Equalization and Franchise Tax Board; the City's Opening Brief correctly states, however, that the method used by the City to calculate the PILOT is to use original, rather than depreciated, asset values. This method is clearly demonstrated in Attachment A to Resolution 2011-111, the City's Electric in-Lieu Computation worksheet (11 AR 2469, Tab 203), where the only depreciated assets listed are "Vehicle, Equipment. Furn." (line 2), amounting to approximately \$8.6 million out of a total of \$438,027,371 in "Appreciating assets" (line 14) – less than 2%. While this distinction seems to take us a bit into the weeds, it just goes to demonstrate the falseness of the City's claim that the City's

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